#90143

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FIFTH DISTRICT

5TH DCA CASE NO.: 96-0914 ORANGE L.T. CASE NO.: CR80-5117 JLED SAD J. WHITE

MAR 20 1997 /

Chief Deputy Clerk

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

Appellant,

v.

Freddie Lee Williams,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF

George L. Dorsett
Assistant County Attorney
Florida Bar No. 375098
Orange County Attorney's Office
Orange County Administration Center
201 S. Rosalind Avenue
Orlando, Florida 32802
(407) 836-7320

Attorney for Appellant, Orange County

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations to the Record are designated as R, with the page numbers following.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

- 1. Mr. Williams tiled a Petition for continued Payment of Costs. (R3-10)
- 2. At the hearing on that motion on April 12, 1996 Orange County asserted that in the proceeding for which the attorney for Mr. Williams wishes to be granted costs, the attorney is acting in place of the Capital Collateral Representative, or at the very least, was acting as if he were the equivalent of an attorney appointed in place of the Capital Collateral Representative.
- 3. The County asserted that in a proceeding such as this, a collateral action for post conviction relief, that the County was not responsible for costs, and that the Capital Collateral Representative was responsible.
- 4. The court permitted the parties (Orange County and the Petitioner Williams,) to file Memoranda of Law in support of their positions, which they did. (R 13-37 and R 38-76).
- 5. The County's position in its Memorandum was primarily that absent a specific provision in the Constitution, the statutes or by way of a contract, neither the County nor anyone else is responsible for paying the litigation costs of another, and certainly not where a specific authority provision exists which requires another entity to provide such costs, here. (R 13-37)
- 6. The Petitioner's reply essentially claimed that if a volunteer counsel steps forward to relieve the Office of the Capital Collateral Representatives (CCR) of the duty to represent, via an attorney, the Petitioner, then the CCR is also relieved, automatically, of the other costs, because the petitioner is no longer "a CCR client." The County would then be responsible.
- 7. The Court granted the motion for continued costs on June 27, 1996, and the County filed an amended notice of appeal on July 3, 1996.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The underlying and profound requirement of the applicable Florida Statute is that the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative must pay for the Petitioner's Litigation Costs, and for that matter, his attorneys fees, in accordance with Section 27.702 and 703, Fla. Stat.
- The petitioner's need for funds, and questions of his *right* to them is less of an issue than the proper source of the funds. The County is mandated to help defendants and appellants, not petitioners for Collateral Relief. Section 914.11, 925.035, 925.036, 039.07, *Fla. Stat*.
- 3. Orange County has just as many arguments of an equitable nature as Petitioner and the CCR have. The County's funds were also cut. See Section 925.037, Fla. Stat. The County is in a much poorer planning position than the CCR for budgeting for such payments. The CCR, after all, was required to fund such cases from the beginning, and the County would have an unbudgeted expenditure if it had to support Williams. The CCR has already benefitted from the free ride it has had from William's attorney. Whey should it continue to receive one from the County?
- 4. Counties *are* not even *indirectly* responsible for such costs by way of their responsibilities to the Public defender, since the Public Defender is *also* not required to represent an indigent collateral action petitioner. See Section 27.5 1, *Fla. Stat*.
- 5. There is no "penumbra" or general duty in the absence of a statute for a public defender (and therefore through them the County) to represent an indigent. *Yacussi v. Hershey 549* So. 2d 782 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) and *Office of the Public Defender v. Baker*, 371 So. 2d 684 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) Counties are only required to assist indigents, *otherwise* than through their support via special Public Defenders, where *no other statute* (like Section 27.702 and 703) exists *and* there is a constitutional right to assistance. *See In the Interest of D.B.*, 385 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 1980).

Common law provides no such mechanism. *Pinellas* County v. Sawyer, 620 So. 2d 757 (Fla. 1993). Cost provisions against the State (meaning also the County) must be strictly construed. *Sawyer*, *supra*.

- 6. There are several cases which provide a good illustration of the requirements of the statute. Orange County believes they can all be interpreted, when all things are considered, to support the County's position. *Songer v. Citrus* County, 462 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), *Brevard* v. *Moxley* 526 So. 2d 1023 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). They demonstrate that where no statute, constitutional or contractual authority exists to bill counties, *and* where statutory authority exists to bill someone else, Counties should not be forced to pay.
- 7. The CCR is ultimately responsible for the petitioner's costs, even if another attorney is actually representing the inmate. The inmate is still "a CCR client" for cost purposes. See Sections 27.5 1(5)(6), 27.702 and 27.703, Fla. Stat.

Orange County cannot be required to pay such costs as a matter of both law and equity.

ARGUMENT

THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COSTS

The particular proceeding for which the attorney seeks payment reimbursement is a collateral proceeding for post conviction relief. The individual for whom the relief is sought is no longer a defendant at that point, and is petitioning for special relief.

- I. SECTION 27.702 AND 703, FLA. STAT. PROVIDE THAT THE FLORIDA OFFICE OF CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE ("CCR") IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPRESENTING THE PETITIONER IN COLLATERAL MOTIONS FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF.
- A. Section 27.702 establishes the responsibility of the CCR in the proceeding. It states in pertinent part:

27.702 Duties of the capital collateral representative. •• The capital collateral representative shall represent, without additional compensation, any person convicted and sentenced to death in this state who is without counsel and who is unable to secure counsel due to his indigency or determined by a state court of competent jurisdiction to be indigent for the purpose of instituting and prosecuting collateral actions challenging the legality of the judgment and sentence imposed. . . Representation by the capital collateral representative shall commence upon termination of appellate proceeding. . .

(Emphasis added.)

From this it is clear that the Capital Collateral Representative does not represent a <u>defendant</u>, but rather a convicted felon seeking collateral relief. The fact that the client is no longer a defendant is a key element.

B. Section 27.703 of the Florida Statutes also provides, in pertinent part:

27.703 Conflict of interest and substitute counsel. If at any time during the representation of two or more indigent persons, the capital collateral representative shall determine that the interests of those persons are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the capital collateral representative or his staff without conflict of interest, the sentencing court shall *upon applications* therefor by the capital collateral representative-appoint one or more members of The Florida Bar to represent one or more of such persons. Appointed counsel shall be paid from dollars appropriated to the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative.

(Emphasis added.)

Nothing in the motion for costs speaks to the issue of conflicts or adverse interests although that may presumably be the case. The County's information is only that the attorney for whom reimbursement is sought volunteered to represent the petitioner. Therefore, the attorney representing former Defendant must be considered to be standing in place of the Capital Collateral Representative, rather than as an appointed counsel. However, even if this attorney had been appointed, it is clear that he would be paid from dollars appropriated to the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, not from Orange County.

II. SPALDING V. DUGGER

Assuming, then that the attorney is standing in place of the CCR because he is not the equivalent of an appointed attorney, the case of *Spalding* v. *Dugger*, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988) illustrates that the CCR is funded by the legislature, not the County, for attorneys fees, travel costs, witness expenses and other associated litigation expenses. The case quotes the Capital Collateral Representative as asserting in pertinent part as follows:

Petitioner Spalding maintains that the unprecedented signing of nine death warrants, all operative during the same time period, makes it impossible for him to provide the death-sentenced prisoners with even a semblance of the postconviction due process to which they are entitled.

Spalding bases his assertion on the fact that his office's budget has the completely depleted and, thus, he *lacks* the necessary funds to meet travel costs, witness expenses, and other associated litigation costs until the new budget year commences on July I, 1988. The agency's chief fiscal office stated under oath that the accounts from whom the collateral representative contracts for experts and part-time staff assistants, including experts utilized to address mental health issues, "have been completely exhausted". She determined that CCR cannot expend funds for investigation, travel, experts, or other services directly related to the nine cases under active death

warrants, without violating Section 2 15.3 11, Florida Statutes (1987), and subjecting the capital collateral representative to the penalties provided in Section 775.082, 775,083, or 775.084, Florida Statutes (1987).

Spalding asserts that, given these fiscal circumstances he is unable to assure the presence of counsel for scheduled evidentiary hearings in the various courts prior to July 1. He concedes that when additional funds are released on July 1, the problem "should dissipate".

The collateral representative requests this Court to grant relief in one of the following alternatives: (1) enter stays of execution and order no further evidentiary hearings be held in the collateral relief proceedings for the death-sentenced prisoners Spalding represents until after July 1, 1988; (2) direct the respondent trial courts to enter stays of execution and not proceed on evidentiary hearings until after July 1, 1988; or (3) order the trial courts to enter stays of execution **unless the appropriate boards** of county commissioners **agree to pay** the costs and expenses of the **office** of the capital collateral representative. The state responds that this Court does not have jurisdiction to provide the requested relief until a postconviction claim is filed in the trial court and the trial court has had an opportunity to entertain the issue of whether a stay is necessary.

(Emphasis added.)

Clearly, the CCR did not believe that counties have a responsibility to pay such costs.

Neither the CCR or the court behaved as if they thought the County had any duty to pay for such costs and the opinion denying the relief sought by the CCR turned on other issues.

III. RIGHT TO SUPPORT VERSUS SOURCE OF SUPPORT

The citations of authority made by the attorney for Petitioner establish two basic requirements. First, indigent defendants have the right to have the necessary financial support to **defend** against the criminal charges. The second requirement is that counties are required to provide **those** funds for **defendants**. None of the statutes or case citations show that a county, as opposed to some other entity, must provide funds to assist an individual when he has completed his defense,

and has exhausted his appeals.

A. COUNTIES COVER TRIALS AND APPEALS FOR DEFENDANTS

All of the applicable Florida statutes, specifically 914.11, 925.035(6) and 939.07 all speak of *defendants* in criminal *cases* and focus on *trials* and *appeals*. *The* pertinent parts are as follows:

9 14.11 Indigent *defendants*. -- If a court decides, on the basis of an affidavit, that a *defendant* in a criminal case is indigent and unable to pay the cost of procuring the attendance of witnesses, such *defendant* may subpoena the witnesses, and the costs, including the cost of the defendant's copy of all depositions and transcripts which are certified by the defendant's attorney as serving a useful purpose *in the disposition of the case*, shall be paid by the county. When depositions are taken outside the circuit in which *the case ispending*, travel expenses shall be paid by the county in accordance with s. 112.061 and shall also be taxed as costs.

(Emphasis added.)

This provision clearly speaks to the disposition of a criminal case, not an ancillary or collateral proceeding. The Petitioner is not a defendant, He has already been convicted. The case is not "pending." It has been decided. It was final upon review by the highest appellate court following Petitioner's direct appeal of judgment and sentence. *See Burr v. State*, 5 18 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1987).

925.035 Appointment and compensation of an attorney in capital cases; *appeals from judgments* imposing the death penalty.-

(1) If the court determines that the *defendant* in a capital case is insolvent and desires counsel, it shall appoint a *public defender* to represent the defendant. If the public defender appointed to represent *two* or more *defendants* found to be insolvent determines that neither he nor his staff can counsel all of the accused without conflict of interest, it shall be his duty to move the court to appoint one or more members of The Florida Bar, who are in no way affiliated with the public defender in his capacity as such or in his private practice, to represent those accused. The attorney shall be

allowed compensation, as provided for in s. 925.036 for representing a defendant.

- (2) If the defendant is convicted and the death sentence is imposed, **the appointed attorney shall prosecute an appeal** to the Supreme Court. The attorney shall be compensated as provided for in s. 925.036. If the attorney first appointed is unable to prosecute the **appeal**, the court shall appoint **another** attorney and the attorney shall be compensated as provided for in s. 925.036.
- (3) If there is a **second trial** of the same case, the appointed attorney shall be compensated as provided for in s. 925.036.
- (4) If the death sentence is imposed and is **affirmed on appeal to the Supreme Court**, the appointed attorney shall be allowed compensation, not to exceed \$1,000, for attorneys' fees and costs incurred in representing the defendant as to **an application** for **executive clemency, such compensation to be paid out** of **general revenue from finds budgeted to the Department** of **Corrections.** The public defender or an attorney appointed pursuant to this section may be appointed by the trial court that rendered the judgment imposing the death penalty, to represent an indigent defendant who has applied for executive clemency as relief from the execution of the judgment imposing the death penalty.
- (5) When the appointed attorney in a capital case has completed the duties imposed **by this section**, he shall file a written report in the trial court stating the duties performed by him and **apply** for **discharge**.
- (6) All compensation and costs **provided** for **in this section**, **except** as provided in subsection (4), **shall be paid** by **the county** in which the trial is held unless the trial was moved to that county on the ground that a fair and impartial trial could not be held in another county, in which event the compensation and costs shall be paid by the original county from which the cause was removed.

(Emphasis added.)

Again, it is clear from the language of this statute that the payment concerns trial in the original court and appeals of the result, for which the Public Defender or special conflict counsel

shall be appointed, There is even a specific provision for an attorney to be paid *from funds of the department of corrections* when a special "conflict" public defender files for executive clemency. The statute even limits payment by the counties to those costs defined *in that statute only*, It even shows that by specific provision in some cases the county does *not* pay costs and when it does, only while the individual is a defendant *at trial* and *on appeal*.

The provision immediately following Section 925.035, provides:

925.036 Appointed counsel; compensation. --

- (1) An attorney appointed pursuant to \$\s.\ 925.035 or \$\s.\ 27.53 shall, at the conclusion of the representation, be compensated at an hourly rate fixed by the chief judge or senior judge of the circuit in an amount not to exceed the prevailing hourly rate for similar representation rendered in the circuit; however, such compensation shall not exceed the maximum fee limits established by this section. In addition, such attorney shall be reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred, including the costs of transcripts authorized by the court. If the attorney is representing a defendant charged with more than one offense in the same case, the attorney shall be compensated at the rate provided for the most serious offense for which he represented the defendant. This section does not allow stacking of the fee limits established by this section.
- (2) The compensation for representation shall not exceed the following:
- (a) For misdemeanors and juveniles represented at the *trial level:* \$1,000.
- **(b)** For noncapital, nonlife felonies represented at the *trial level*: \$2,500.
- (c) For life felonies represented at the *trial level*: \$3,500.
- (d) For capital cases represented at the *trial level:* \$3,500.
 - (e) For representation on appeal: \$2,000.

(Emphasis added.)

Note that there are no provisions for attorneys fees or for reimbursement of costs for any action **other**

than a trial or an appeal.

Section 939.07, Fla. Stat. states:

939.07 Pay of defendant's witnesses. --

In all criminal cases prosecuted in the name of the state in the circuit courts or county courts in this state where the **defendant** is indigent or discharged, the county shall pay the legal expenses and costs, as is prescribed for the payment of costs incurred by the county in the prosecution of such cases, including the cost of the defendant's copy of all depositions and transcripts which are certified by the defendant's attorney as serving a useful purpose in the disposition of the case; provided, that before any witness is subpoenaed on behalf of a defendant in the circuit or county court an application shall be made to thejudge, in writing, on behalf of the defendant, setting forth the substance of the facts sought to be proved by the witness or witnesses, making affidavit that the defendant is insolvent, and if upon such showing the judge is satisfied that the witness or witnesses are necessary for the proper defense of the defendant, he shall order that subpoena issue, and that the costs as herein provided shall be paid by the county, and not otherwise.

(Emphasis added.)

Again, the proceeding for which the instant payments are requested is **not prosecuted in the name of the state.** The petitioner is no longer a defendant, none of the costs are necessary for the disposition of the case, because it had already been disposed of, and there is no defense of a defendant going on at all. This is a collateral matter entirely.

There are many cases concerning **indigency** and the right to **financial** support, some of which are cited by the attorney for the Petitioner, others not. All cited by him do support the right to financial support. **None** address collateral actions for post conviction relief. Orange County does not disagree with the principle that indigent defendants have a right to financial support for their

defense. Orange County does not even quarrel with the principle that the defendant has by statute, a right to financial support for motions for litigation expenses for the specific type of post conviction relief former defendant has requested. Orange County simply takes the position that no statute, rule or case requires Orange County or any county to cover such costs, and that the only provisions for such collateral actions indicate that the CCR, not the County, shouldpay.

The critical issue is therefore not the **indigency** of Petitioner. He has been found indigent. His right to financial assistance is not the issue either. The only issue is the *source* of the funds, not the right to receive them. One cannot just substitute "volunteer legal counsel" for "public defender" and pretend that the same statutes apply. The public defender is supported by the counties in accordance with the Florida Statutes, and any private attorney appointed in place of the Public Defender is paid by the County, The CCR is not supported by the County. The County is *not* responsible for the costs in a collateral proceeding. There are no cases which require the County to be responsible in such a case.

IV. EQUITABLE ARGUMENTS • FUNDING BY THE LEGISLATURE

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