SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ISSUE (RESTATED) WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY RULED THAT ORANGE COUNTY RATHER THAN THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE (CCR) WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR COSTS TO BE INCURRED BY A LAWYER REPRESENTING A DEATH-SENTENCED PERSON PRO BONO IN AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING UNDER FLA. R.CRIM.P. 3.850 WHEN CCR WAS NOT
COUNSEL AND THE <i>PRO BONO</i> COUNSEL WAS NEITHER ACTING AS A SPECIAL ASSISTANT CCR NOR COURT-APPOINTED UNDER UNDER <i>FLA.STAT.</i> \$27.703 (1995), DUE TO A CONFLICT OF INTEREST , 7
CONCLUSION

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES
Rehr v Gardner, 442 So.2d 980 (Fla, 1st DCA 1983)
Brevard Board of County Comm'rs v, Harris, 657 So.2d 1233 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) 13
Brevard Board of County Comm'rs v. Moxley,526 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) 5,12,13
<u>In Re B,C.</u> , 610 <b>So.2d</b> 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)
<u>In Interest of D.B.</u> , 385 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1980)
<u>In Re Skinner</u> , 541 So.2d 781 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) , , , , , , 13
<u>Johnson v. Snyder.</u> 417 So.2d 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)
Orange Co. v. Corchado, 21 Fla, L. Weekly D1802 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 9, 1996) . , 14
Sanintil v. Snvder, 417 So.2d 784 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) ,
<u>Spalding v. Dugger</u> , 526 So.2d 71 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Spaziano v. State</u> , 660 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 1995 ,
State Dept. of Revenue v. Salch, 673 So.2d 904 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 105 S.Ct. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)
Thompson v. State, 525 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)
FLORIDA STATUTES
Section 27.702(1)
Section 27.703 7,10,11
Section 27.704(2)       9         Section 43.28       4,6,11,12,14
Section 921.141(6)(e)
Section 921.141(6)(f)
Fl. R. Cr. Pr. 3.220(k)
Fl. R. Cr. Pr, 3,850

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee accepts the Appellant's Statement of Case and Facts but, for completeness, adds the following portions of Defendant/Appellee's Motion for Costs and the Court's ruling:

#### MOTION FOR CONTINUED PAYMENT OF COSTS

- 1. The Defendant is currently incarcerated in the Florida State Prison, having been convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death.
- 2. This Court, on March 7, 1996, granted an evidentiary hearing as to claims II, III and IV, of Defendant's Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief. These claims raised issues of ineffectiveness of trial counsel under the requirements of <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668, 105 S.Ct. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986), relating to preparation for and handling of the penalty phase of the proceedings.
- 3. Mr. Williams has been represented by the undersigned legal counsel <u>pro bono</u> since 1986. Mr. Williams was previously adjudged indigent for purposes of obtaining trial counsel, and his financial situation has not changed since that time, as he has been incarcerated since his conviction in 1981. As a result of Mr. Williams' indigency, his counsel will not be able to effectively and completely prepare and present his claims for post conviction relief unless this Court authorizes the release of funds for the retention of experts, investigative assistance, and other reasonable necessary litigation expenses.
- 4. At the time that the undersigned commenced representation of Mr. Williams, the undersigned was a senior partner in a law firm with four partners and two associates, along with summer clerks and extensive support staff, In September of 1992, the undersigned opened his own law offices, and is currently engaged in a very busy litigation practice along with one associate. Both lawyers are very involved in the day to day court-intensive aspects of a criminal defense practice. The undersigned therefore does not have the same time and financial resources that he possessed when he first took the case.
- 5. The undersigned's decrease in time and resources is compounded by the fact that at the time the undersigned commenced representation of Mr. Williams the Voluntary [sic] Lawyers Resource Center (V.L.R.C.), which was comprised of

six staff attorneys, along with paralegals and other support staff, was in existence to assist solo practitioners and small firms that were representing defendants on death row. The undersigned was assisted in his representation of Mr. Williams by the V.L.R.C. However, the V.L.R.C was zero funded by Congress in 1995, and its doors were closed March 3 1, 1996. . . ,

- 6. In Claim II of the Defendant's 3.850 Motion, it is asserted that the Defendant's trial counsel was ineffective at the advisory sentencing phase and sentencing phase of his trial. Included in this claim is the assertion that the Defendant's trial counsel failed to adequately prepare for the final summation to the jury. Also under this claim, Defendant asserts ineffectiveness of trial counsel in failing to argue the existence of any statutory mitigating circumstances during the advisory sentencing phase, including that the offense was committed while the Defendant was under the influence of extreme mental duress (F.S. 921.141(6)(e)), and that the capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirement of law were substantially impaired (F.S. 921.141(6)(f)). The undersigned anticipates the necessity of obtaining expert legal testimony to address the issue of the required "standard of care" under Strickland at the evidentiary hearing on this matter.
- 7. Under Claim II, Defendant asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request that a psychiatrist or psychologist be appointed to aid the defense in providing testimony in support of several statutory mitigating factors, and numerous non-statutory mitigating factors, including the Defendant's very low I.Q. (only 81), that the Defendant would very likely be a productive and cooperative inmate, mental health problems, alcohol abuse, a prior history of having a head injury, and any neurological or organic brain damage due to the prior history of head injury. Further, Defendant asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate or present any evidence concerning the Defendant's past medical history in support of both statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors, including: failing to investigate evidence of: prior gunshot injuries to the Defendant's head, leg and chest; failure to conduct neurological inquiry and testing to the effect of prior trauma to Defendant's head and his mental health status, competency and sanity; failure to conduct any background investigation or present evidence concerning past treatments of the Defendant by any

mental health experts; and failure to investigate or present any evidence concerning the Defendant's past history of trauma to the head causing severe headaches, intermittent disability, or loss of orientation, black-outs, dizziness and fainting spells.

- 8. Under Claim II, Defendant asserts that his trial counsel failed to investigate and present evidence concerning the Defendant's prior disadvantaged family background and upbringing, and never investigated the Defendant's school records or problems, as they related to his low I.Q. Also, there was a complete failure on the part of trial counsel to present any evidence of the Defendant's alcoholism and abuse of alcohol, an additional recognized non-statutory mitigating factor. Defendant also claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to contact the victim's family, specifically her sisters, to present their testimony that they did not desire the death penalty for the Defendant.
- 9. To investigate and substantiate Mr. Williams' post conviction claims, principally those based on Mr. Williams' mental health problems, low I.Q. and alcohol abuse, investigative aid, expert witnesses and other services are required. Specifically, counsel anticipates that it will be necessary at a minimum to retain the services of a psychiatrist and a psychologist as well as an investigator to document Mr. Williams' life story. Funds will be required to obtain the services of these experts and for other reasonable and necessary litigation expenses.
- 10. To show that his right to effective assistance of counsel was violated, the Defendant must show that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to develop mental health and other mitigating evidence. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). This requires a showing that, but for counsel's ineffectiveness, there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome would have been different. Id at 684. To make this showing, Mr. Williams must present to the court what a competent investigation by trial counsel would have revealed; that is, what competent investigators would have uncovered as to his life history and what competent mental health professionals would have testified to if retained and given an opportunity to review that life history.
- 11. To develop the facts material to this claim adequately -- and thus to be afforded a full, fair and adequate hearing -- Mr. Williams must be provided reasonable and sufficient funds for investigative assistance and expert witnesses.

Funds are necessary for an investigator who can document Mr. Williams life history and to obtain an evaluation of Mr. Williams by a psychiatrist who can testify as to the significance of that life history on Mr. Williams' culpability. A psychologist who can perform psychological testing and provide expert testimony as to the results of his testing is also required.

15. The need for an evidentiary hearing in this matter is apparent. As demonstrated herein, to develop the facts material to his claims, the Defendant will have to present numerous witnesses and experts to testify to the significance of his mental condition regarding his culpability and to testify with respect to the standard for effective representation of defendants charged with capital crimes in the State of Florida. The necessity of such a hearing is undisputed, and the hearing will undoubtedly be lengthy and will involve complex issues. Therefore the Defendant needs funds to develop the facts and obtain testimony to support his claims.

(R. at pp. 3-9, Motion for Costs).

## ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR CONTINUED PAYMENT OF COSTS

This matter came before the Court in the Defendant's Motion for Payment of Costs filed April 11, 1996. After considering the motion, the arguments of counsel and the record of this case, the Court makes the following findings:

- 1. The Capital Collateral Representative is not obligated to absorb the costs of this collateral relief action because the Defendant is represented by volunteer private counsel. § 27.702(1), Fla. Stat. (1995); Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363, 1370 (Fla, 1995)("[Spaziano] may be represented at the evidentiary hearing by CCR or by competent volunteer counsel... at no expense to the State, ...").
- 2. The Defendant's decision to employ volunteer counsel does not necessarily relieve the County of any obligation it may have to pay for costs. <u>Compare Johnson v. Snyder</u>, 417 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); <u>Sanintil v. Snyder</u>, 417 So. 2d 784 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); <u>Behr v. Gardner</u>, 442 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).
- 3. The Court finds that the costs proposed by the Defendant to date are necessary to afford the Defendant due

process at an evidentiary hearing and to permit this Court to address this complex postconviction claim, Orange County is therefore responsible for paying for these costs. <u>See</u> § 43.28, Fla. Stat. (1995); <u>Brevard County Bd</u>, of County Comm'rs v. <u>Moxley</u>, 526 So. 2d 1023 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988).

(R. at pp. 78, 79).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

**Pro bono** counsel in capital post-conviction proceedings who is not affiliated with the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, or appointed by the Court because of a conflict of interest, is classified under section **43.28**, **Florida Statutes** (1995), as "personnel necessary" for operation of the courts. The trial judge properly applied this statute in finding that the County should pay the litigation costs to be incurred by counsel for Mr. Williams, an indigent death-sentenced person whose constitutional claims were found sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing.

The County's assertion that CCR should pay those expenses is refuted by the legislative history of CCR, and the present and past versions of Chapter 27, Part IV (CCR statute), and the Supreme Court's Commentary to the post-conviction rules, all showing that a dual system of representation has existed since the inception of CCR. No authority exists for imposing on CCR the litigation costs of a person who CCR does not represent.

#### ISSUE (RESTATED)

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY RULED THAT ORANGE COUNTY RATHER THAN THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE (CCR) WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR COSTS TO BE INCURRED BY A LAWYER REPRESENTING A DEATH-SENTENCED PERSON PRO BONO IN AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING UNDER FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.850 WHEN CCR WAS NOT COUNSEL AND THE PRO BONO COUNSEL WAS NEITHER ACTING AS A SPECIAL ASSISTANT CCR NOR COURT-APPOINTED UNDER FLA. STAT. \$27.703 (1995) DUE TO A CONFLICT OF INTEREST.

#### ARGUMENT

Freddie Lee Williams is sentenced to death. His motion for relief under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 requires an evidentiary hearing on constitutional issues to determine if the sentence is lawful. Although Mr. Williams might have been represented by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR), in fact he is represented by counsel acting **pro bono.** 

The Appellant (County) claims that CCR is nevertheless responsible for the costs incurred by Williams' counsel because were it not for such **pro bono** counsel, Mr. Williams would be represented by CCR. Of course, the County's argument is built on a hypothetical case and not reality.

The legislative staff analysis attached to Mr. Williams' response in the trial court demonstrates legislative intent in 1985 was to limit CCR's responsibility to representing indigent death-sentenced persons who were without counsel (R. 73). That intent was expressed in section 27.702(1), *Florida Statutes* (1995), which said CCR would represent those sentenced to death "who [were] without counsel and . . . unable to secure counsel due to indigency . . . ".

From this statute the County somehow asserts that CCR became the funding source for all indigents sentenced to death even if they are not represented by CCR. A plain reading of the statute does not support that construction. CCR represents only its own clients. By statute, those are clients who are (1) without counsel, and (2) are unable to secure counsel due to indigency or determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be indigent. Whether indigent or not, persons who have counsel are not represented by CCR.

ι,

Nevertheless, the County argues somewhat obliquely that since an indigent person who did not have counsel would be represented by CCR, others who are indigent but not represented by CCR are entitled to have their costs paid as if they were clients of CCR.

Interestingly, the County supplies no authority for this interpretation of the statute.

The County's position assumes that the Legislature intended to and did fund CCR to the extent that the expenses of all indigent clients, not just CCR's, would be paid out of CCR's appropriations.

Legislative history is to the contrary. As the staff summary said:

CCR was created as an agency that would be funded to represent those persons who did not have legal representation in **post**-conviction proceedings because of their indigency .

(R. 73). The funding was obviously based on the number of clients to be represented by CCR. The CCR clients did not include those death-sentenced individuals who had volunteer counsel.

Orange County now says that the Legislature meant to include under the CCR funding

<sup>&#</sup>x27;As amended by Chapter 96-290, § 2, LAWS OF FLORIDA, effective May 30, 1996, Section 27.702(1) no longer requires indigency as a qualification for CCR representation.

umbrella all death-sentenced persons, even those with volunteer counsel. That is not what the bill analysis claims, and it is not what the statute says.

By contrast, section 27.704(2), Florida Statutes, authorizes the Capital Collateral Representative to appoint part-time assistant capital collateral representatives "who shall serve without compensation at the discretion of the capital collateral representative." Had Mr. Williams' counsel been functioning as a part-time assistant under section 27.704(2), the County's argument might have some statutory foundation. The issue of whether the County or CCR is liable for costs incurred by a statutory assistant would present a closer question than the one here, which is CCR's liability for litigation costs associated with volunteer counsel not functioning as an appointed part-time assistant under Chapter 27.

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